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 Respondents Lawrence Canarelli (“Larry”) and Heidi Canarelli (“Heidi”) (collectively “the 

Canarellis”), and Frank Martin, Special Administrator of the Estate of Edward C. Lubbers 

(“Lubbers”), as former Family Trustees of the Scott Lyle Graves Canarelli Irrevocable Trust, 

dated February 24, 1998 (the “SCIT”), by and through undersigned counsel, hereby submit their 

Opposition to Petitioner Scott Canarelli’s Motion for Determination of Privilege Designation of 

RESP013284-013288 and RESP078899-078900 and Countermotion for Remediation of 

Improperly Disclosed Attorney-Client Privileged and Work Product Protected Materials.  This 

Opposition and Countermotion are based on the papers and pleadings on file herein, the exhibits 

attached hereto, the following Points and Authorities, and any oral argument the Court considers 

at the time of the hearing.   

DATED this 10th day of August, 2018. 

     CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS 
 
     By___/s/ J. Colby Williams_____________ 
          DONALD J. CAMPBELL, ESQ. (1216) 
          J. COLBY WILLIAMS, ESQ. (5549) 
          PHILIP R. ERWIN, ESQ. (11563) 
           700 South Seventh Street 
          Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 
     DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC 
     Elizabeth Brickfield, Esq. (6236) 
     Joel Z. Schwarz, Esq. (9181) 
     8363 West Sunset Road, Suite 200 
     Las Vegas, Nevada 89113  
 
     Attorneys for Lawrence and  
     Heidi Canarelli, and Frank Martin,  
     Special Administrator of the Estate of  
     Edward C. Lubbers, Former Trustees 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 
 

I.  INTRODUCTION 
 

 Scott’s Motion challenging Respondents’ assertion of attorney-client privilege and work 

product protection over certain notes prepared by Lubbers in October and December, 2013 is 

gravely flawed both procedurally and substantively.  Graver still is the threat to the judicial process 

and public confidence in the legal system if a recalcitrant party is permitted to don the judge’s 

robe, crack the gavel, and declare the opposing party’s privileged documents fair game for use in 

the litigation.  Unfortunately, that is exactly what has happened here.  

 Beginning with its substantive defects, Scott’s Motion is premised on a multitude of 

incorrect legal theories.  First, Scott contends that he is entitled to Lubbers’ actual notes because 

they contain “facts,” which are not protected by the attorney-client privilege or the work product 

doctrine.  Respondents dispute this characterization of the notes as they clearly reflect Lubbers’ 

mental processes and, thus, constitute independently-protected “opinion” work product.  

Regardless, where the purported “facts” are contained within an attorney-client privileged 

communication, the communication itself (i.e., the notes) remains protected from disclosure.  And 

while “ordinary” work product can sometimes be obtained based on a showing of “substantial 

need,” Scott has failed to meet the heightened burden required to overcome the near absolute 

protection that attaches to the type of “opinion” work product contained in Lubbers’ notes.   

 Next, Scott argues that Respondents have waived any privilege or work product protection 

because (i) Lubbers created some of the notes in the presence of Larry Canarelli and Bob Evans, 

and (ii) the notes were ultimately provided to the offices of The American West Home Building 

Group after being (inadvertently) produced in this action.  In so doing, Scott ignores that, under 

NRS 49.095, Lubbers and the Canarellis share a common interest defending this action as the 

conduct of all of the former Family Trustees was (and is) at issue in Scott’s various petitions.  Scott 
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likewise ignores that work product protected materials can be provided to certain third parties 

without risk of waiver.  

 Third, Scott claims the subject notes cannot be work product protected because they were 

not prepared at the direction of an attorney.  But Scott’s reliance on a distinguishable, three-decade 

old case to support this proposition is at odds with more recent Nevada Supreme Court precedent, 

the plain language of NRCP 26(b)(3), and abundant case law interpreting the same. 

 Finally, Scott posits that no work product protection can apply to the Lubbers notes created 

in 2013 because Scott’s initial petition was “neutral” and asserted no claims against Lubbers.  The 

test, however, for what constitutes litigation that can be anticipated for work product purposes 

centers on whether the proceedings are “adversarial.”  A simple reading of Scott’s initial petition 

and the totality of surrounding circumstances quickly dispels any notion that his initial filing was 

“neutral.”     

 From a procedural standpoint, Petitioner has improperly used Lubbers’ disputed notes 

affirmatively to support the claims asserted in his recently-filed Supplemental Petition, to 

challenge Respondents’ claim that the notes are privileged and protected, and to defend against 

Respondents’ pending Motion to Dismiss the Supplemental Petition.  Scott, moreover, has publicly 

disclosed the contents of Lubbers’ notes and has refused to remove them from the public record 

pending resolution of this dispute.  Such conduct violates the express terms of the parties’ ESI 

Protocol, the parties’ Confidentiality Agreement, and the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct 

governing the ethical proscriptions with which counsel must comply after learning they may be in 

possession of an adversary’s protected information.  Respondents have filed a Countermotion 

asking the Commissioner to prevent further harm caused by Petitioner’s actions through the entry 

of an order directing removal of the protected communications from the Court’s files, among other 

relief. 
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II.  FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 

A. The Adversarial Nature of the Initial Petition and Related Communications Between 
the Parties. 

 
1. On or about September 30, 2013, Petitioner Scott Canarelli (“Petitioner” or “Scott”) 

filed his Petition to Assume Jurisdiction over the Scott Lyle Graves Canarelli Irrevocable Trust; 

to Confirm Edward C. Lubbers as Family and Independent Trustee; for an Inventory and 

Accounting; to Compel an Independent Valuation of the Trust Assets Subject to the Purchase 

Agreement, dated May 31, 2013; and to Authorize and Direct the Trustee to Provide 

Settlor/Beneficiary with any and all Information and Documents Concerning the Sale of the Trust’s 

Assets Under Such Purchase Agreement (the “Initial Petition”).1   

2. As indicated in the Initial Petition, see ¶¶ A.13-A.14, Petitioner had retained the law 

firm Solomon Dwiggins & Freer in or about May 2012 to assist him in resuming distributions from 

the SCIT, which Scott alleged had been stopped due to “hostility” on the part of his parents, Larry 

and Heidi.  See id.   

3. By November 2012, the “hostility” between Scott and his parents, who were Family 

Trustees of the SCIT at that time, and Lubbers, who was then Independent Trustee of the SCIT, 

had reached a boiling point.  Indeed, Scott’s counsel, Mark Solomon, Esq., sent a letter to Lubbers 

on November 14, 2012 wherein he characterized the Trustees’ handling of distributions to Scott 

as “per se bad faith.”2  Mr. Solomon further threatened that he had “been authorized by Scott to 

file a petition to assume jurisdiction over the trusts to redress the present Trustees’ unreasonable 

                                                
1  A true and correct copy of the Initial Petition in this case, without exhibits, is attached hereto as 
Exhibit 1.  Petitioner likewise filed two other petitions the same day related to two different trusts 
of which he is the beneficiary.  See Case Nos. P-13-078913-T; P-13-078919-T.  
 
2  A true and correct copy of the November 14, 2012 letter, which has been produced in this action 
as Bates Nos. RESP0094288-0094289, is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 
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interpretation of the HEMS standard, to remove the Trustees, and to demand accountings for both 

trusts.”  See Ex. 2.  Finally, Mr. Solomon made a demand for multiple thousands of dollars in 

distributions from the SCIT, which were “non-negotiable.”  Id. 

4. The very next day, on November 15, 2012, Lubbers prepared and sent an Agenda 

for one of the Friday meetings that were regularly conducted with Larry and Bob Evans (“Evans”) 

at the offices of The American West Home Building Group (“AWG”).3  The Agenda reflects a 

bullet point item styled as:  “5.  Scott – lawsuit threatened.”4 

5. On May 31, 2013, Lubbers, as Family Trustee of the SCIT, entered into a Purchase 

Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with three irrevocable trusts that had previously been 

formed by Scott’s siblings (the “Siblings Trusts”) and an entity named SJA Acquisitions, LLC 

(“SJA”).  The Siblings Trusts purchased the minority interests in certain corporations held by the 

SCIT, and SJA purchased the minority interests in certain limited liability companies held by the 

SCIT (collectively the “Purchased Entities”).  

6. The lawsuit threatened by Scott’s counsel in November 2012 ultimately came in the 

form of the Initial Petition filed on September 30, 2013.  Despite Petitioner’s retroactive attempts 

to downplay the Initial Petition as “neutral” because there was purportedly “no actual dispute 

                                                
3  As the Court knows from prior motion practice, AWG is a home building business.  Larry is the 
founder of AWG, and Mr. Evans is its Senior Vice President of Finance.  The SCIT formerly held 
minority interests in various corporations and limited liability companies that comprised a portion 
of AWG’s homebuilding operations.  See Opp’n to Motion to Compel Lawrence and Heidi 
Canarelli’s Responses to Scott Canarelli’s Request for Production of Documents dated May 29, 
2018 (on file).  Though not a party herein, Respondents agreed to search and produce responsive 
ESI from Mr. Evans on the theory that he acted as an agent of the former Family Trustees in 
connection with the SCIT.  See id. at Ex. 7.  A true and correct copy of the e-mail exchange between 
counsel on this subject is being reproduced as Exhibit 3 hereto.   

 
4  A true and correct copy of the forwarding e-mail and attached Agenda, which have been 
produced in this action as Bates Nos. RESP0094294-0094295, are attached hereto as aggregate 
Exhibit 4 (emphasis added). 
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between the Parties” and “absolutely no allegations of wrongful conduct or claims were asserted 

against either Lubbers or the Canarellis,” see Mot. at 7:12-17; 17:15-18, a plain reading of the 

Initial Petition tells a very different story. 

7. Here are several excerpts demonstrating the adversarial nature of the allegations 

contained in the Initial Petition: 

• “Since the Irrevocable Trust’s creation fifteen years ago, Petitioner has never 
received an inventory of the Irrevocable Trust’s assets or an annual accounting 
as specifically provided thereunder, despite requests for the same.” Ex. 1 ¶ A.10 
(emphasis added); see also id. ¶ C.5 (same); 

 
• “Indeed, Petitioner has never been provided with a copy of the Credit Agreement, 

despite the collateralization of the Irrevocable Trust’s interest in the LLCs and 
Corporations in conjunction therewith.”  Id. ¶ A.12; 

 
• “In or about May 2012, the Family Trustees became hostile toward Petitioner 

and stopped making distributions to Petitioner and/or his family, despite 
Petitioner’s dependence on such distributions for his and his family’s health, 
maintenance, support and general welfare.  The cessation of distributions followed 
receipt by Petitioner of a letter from Larry and Heidi that read that Larry and Heidi 
were ‘not willing to continue financing [Petitioner’s] existence’ because ‘it is 
against everything that [Larry and Heidi] think is good for [Petitioner].’”  
Petitioner is informed and believes that the hostility stemmed from his decision to 
become a stay at home father after his wife returned to the workplace.”  Id. ¶ A.13 
(emphasis added); 

 
• “At the onset of SDF’s representation of petitioner, Petitioner requested an 

accounting and an inventory of trust assets from the trustees.  However, the 
Independent Trustee informed Petitioner that Larry would not authorize the 
provision of an accounting and/or an inventory of the Irrevocable Trust or its 
assets.  Further, the Independent Trustee admitted to Petitioner that he had little 
or no personal knowledge of the Irrevocable Trust’s management or its assets, 
despite serving as Independent Trustee since 2005.”  Id. ¶ A.15 (emphasis added); 

 
• “At the time the Purchase Agreement was entered, Larry was on both sides of the 

transaction.  Thus, Larry had a conflict as both Co-Family Trustee of the 
Irrevocable Trust, on one hand, and Trustee of the Siblings Trust [sic] and 
manager of SJA.”  Id. ¶ A.20 (emphasis added); 
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• “Accordingly, the Family Trustee violated the fiduciary obligations due and 
owing to Petitioner by failing to provide Petitioner with an inventory of the 
Irrevocable Trust’s assets or render a fiduciary accounting as required by law.  
Thus, this Court should enter an Order compelling Lubbers to provide Petitioner 
with an inventory of the Irrevocable Trust’s assets and a complete accounting of 
the Irrevocable Trust’s activities from February 24, 1998, the date of the 
Irrevocable Trust’s creation, through the present date.”  Id. ¶ C.6 (emphasis 
added); 

 
• “Here, the Family Trustees had a duty to provide Petitioner with the Information 

and documents necessary to keep him apprised of the nature, value and 
transactions of the Irrevocable Trust.  Instead, the trustees sold the Irrevocable 
Trust’s interests in the LLC’s and the Corporations to SJA and the Siblings Trusts 
without Petitioner’s knowledge or consent following a falling out between 
Petitioner and his parents.”  Id. ¶ D.5 (emphasis added); 

 
• “Petitioner lacks any way of verifying whether this sale was prudent . . . or 

designed to punish him or otherwise harm his financial interests.  Indeed, the 
sale effectively strips the Irrevocable Trust of all of its assets by disposing all of 
its interests in the LLCs and Corporations in favor of trusts and entities 
established by Larry for his other three children.”  Id. ¶ D.6 (emphasis added); 
and 

 
• “Moreover, at the time the Family Trustees conducted the sale, the purchasers, 

SJA and the Siblings Trusts, were managed by Larry thereby creating a conflict 
as both the buyer and seller.”  Id. ¶ D.7 (emphasis added). 
 

B. Lubbers Retains Counsel to Respond to the Initial Petition and Prepares Notes Related 
to the Litigation. 

 
8. Less than two weeks after Petitioner’s service by mail of the Initial Petition, Lubbers 

retained the law firm Lee, Hernandez, Landrum, Garofalo & Blake (“LHLGB”) to represent him 

in connection with responding to the Initial Petition (and the two other petitions filed by Scott).5  

The contemporaneous billing records from LHLGB reflect that attorneys David Lee and Charlene 

                                                
5  Declaration of David S. Lee, Esq. (“Lee Decl.”) ¶ 4; Declaration of Charlene N. Renwick, Esq. 
(“Renwick Decl.”) ¶ 4. 
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Renwick conducted a conference call with Lubbers on October 14, 2013 that lasted approximately 

a half hour.6  The general subject matter of the call was regarding “responses to petition.”  Id.  

9. In anticipation of the call with attorneys Lee and Renwick, Lubbers prepared type-

written notes.  Generally described, the notes initially set forth a series of questions that Lubbers 

sought to pose to counsel regarding how to respond to the Initial Petition.7  The notes go on to 

describe Lubbers’ “beliefs” regarding the case, including how Respondents should respond to the 

Initial Petition, and how the Court may view the case.  See Mot., Ex. 1.  Finally, the notes reflect 

Lubbers’ assessment of certain legal issues.  Id.  The notes, in other words, reflect Lubbers’ request 

for legal advice and his mental impressions about pending litigation and, thus, are a quintessential 

example of attorney-client privileged and work-product protected material. 

10. Attorneys Lee and Renwick have confirmed that, during the October 14, 2013 call, 

Lubbers asked them several questions about his potential responses to the petitions, and further 

stated his views about several matters related to the petitions and potential strategies for defending 

against certain of the allegations contained therein.8  Both attorneys had similar discussions with 

Lubbers on different occasions throughout the representation.  See id.    

                                                
6   A true and correct copy of the LHLGB billing records for October 2013 for the “Canarelli Trust” 
matters is attached hereto as Exhibit 5.  See Lee Decl. ¶ 6.  The records have been redacted to 
protect attorney work-product and attorney-client communications.  Id. 

 
7   See Mot., Ex. 1 (in camera submission).  Unlike Petitioner, who has improperly made 
affirmative use of Lubbers’ notes (despite Respondents’ privilege claims) and publicly quoted 
them (despite the notes being designated “Confidential”) in his Supplemental Petition filed May 
18, 2018, see id. at 18:24-19:8, in the instant Motion filed July 13, 2018, see id. at 7:5-8, and in 
his Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Petitioner’s Supplemental Petition filed August 1, 2018, see 
id. at 27:19-20, Respondents will only describe the notes in general terms so as to avoid further 
harm from the improper use and unauthorized disclosure of this attorney-client privileged and 
work-product protected material.   
 
8  See Lee Decl. ¶ 8; Renwick Decl. ¶ 7. 
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11. In or about mid-November 2013, the law firm Campbell & Williams substituted into 

this action on behalf of Respondents in the place and stead of LHLGB as Ms. Renwick was taking 

maternity leave.9 

12. On or about December 2, 2013, a revised stipulation was entered in this action 

regarding the appointment of Stephen Nicolatus to conduct a valuation of the SCIT assets sold 

pursuant to the May 31, 2013 Purchase Agreement.10  While the Parties had agreed to the 

appointment of Mr. Nicolatus, Scott expressly reserved his rights to seek redress for the conduct 

of the Trustees as it related to the Purchase Agreement.  Id. at 3:26-4:6. 

13. On or about December 6, 2013, Petitioner’s counsel, Mr. Solomon, sent a letter to 

Respondents’ new counsel at Campbell & Williams reaffirming Scott’s reservation of rights to 

challenge the Purchase Agreement:   “Scott was never told about the sale of the trust assets until 

after the fact, and we still have questions about the appropriateness of the sale in the first 

instance. . . . Scott is being careful not to agree or do anything that would estop him from seeking 

to unwind the sale if we determine that is appropriate.”11 

14. On or about December 19, 2013, the parties and their respective counsel met with 

Mr. Nicolatus to discuss the materials he would need to conduct the valuation.  Mr. Lubbers took 

notes during the meeting, which reflect the information he believed was important to 

memorialize.12 

                                                
9  See Lee Decl. ¶ 9; Renwick Decl. ¶ 8. 
 
10  See Stipulation and Order Appointing Valuation Expert and Clarifying Order dated 12/2/13, a 
true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 
 
11  See Letter from M. Solomon to C. Williams dated 12/6/13, a true and correct copy of which is 
attached hereto as Exhibit 7. 
 
12  See Mot., Ex. 2 (in camera submission). 
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15. In or about late-2014/early-2015, Lubbers retained Dan Gerety to assist with 

preparation of the 2014 Accounting for the SCIT.13  On or about November 18, 2015, Lubbers 

signed a “Consent” authorizing Gerety to disclose certain information regarding the 2014 

Accounting to Petitioner’s counsel at Solomon Dwiggins & Freer   

14  As of November 2015, the only “litigation” pending 

regarding the SCIT was the Initial Petition filed on September 30, 2013. 

16. Despite Petitioner’s revisionist claim in the present Motion that “[i]t was not until 

late 2015, when Petitioner provided Respondents’ counsel with a DRAFT copy of the Surcharge 

Petition that the potential of any claim against Lubbers was anticipated,” see Mot. at 10:21-22, 

Petitioner’s counsel has recently admitted elsewhere that “[a]t the time Lubbers retained Gerety to 

prepare the 2014 accounting, there were several unanswered questions raised by Petitioner 

through Gerety that potentially could result in litigation.”15  Again, Lubbers provided notice of 

his intent to retain Gerety to perform the 2014 accounting back in December 2014.16 

C. Respondents Inadvertently Produce Attorney-Client Privileged and Work Product 
Protected Documents, and Seek to Claw Them Back. 

 
 17. Scott filed his Petition to Surcharge on June 27, 2017. 
 

                                                
13  See letters exchanged between A. Freer and C. Williams dated 12/9/14 and 12/12/14, true and 
correct copies of which are attached hereto as aggregate Exhibit 8.  The content of these letters 
leaves no ambiguity that Petitioner’s counsel viewed the parties as being in “litigation” at the time.  
See id. (“In a last effort to resolve the accounting and information request issues without further 
litigation . . . .”) (emphasis added).  

 
14  See Consent to Use of Tax Return Information, a true and correct copy of which is attached 
hereto as Exhibit 9. 
 
15   See Petitioner’s Response to Respondents’ Objections to the Discovery Commissioner’s April 
20, 2018 Report and Recommendation dated 7/12/18 at 17:16-18 (emphasis added), a true and 
correct excerpt of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.  
 
16  See Ex. 8.   
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18. Respondents served their Initial Disclosures of Witnesses and Documents Pursuant 

to NRCP 16.1 on December 15, 2017.  As part of their Initial Disclosures, Respondents 

inadvertently produced a set of handwritten and typed notes from Lubbers’ hard files as Bates Nos. 

RESP0013284-RESP0013288. 

 19. Respondents served their First Supplement to Initial Disclosures of Witnesses and 

Documents Pursuant to NRCP 16.1 on April 6, 2018.  As part of their First Supplemental 

Disclosures, Respondents inadvertently produced a set of handwritten notes from Lubbers’ hard 

copy files unofficially referred to as Bates Nos. RESP0078884-RESP0078932.17   

  (i)  Lubbers’ October 2013 Notes (Bates Nos. RESP0013284-RESP0013288) 

 20. On May 18, 2018, Petitioner filed his Supplement to Petition to Surcharge Trustee 

and Former Trustees for Breach of Fiduciary Duties, Conspiracy and Aiding and Abetting; Petition 

for Breach of Fiduciary Duty for Failure to Properly Account; and Petition for an Award of 

Attorney Fees, Accountant Fees & Costs (the “Supplemental Petition”) (on file).   

 21. With no forewarning, Petitioner unilaterally included Lubbers’ notes (Bates Nos. 

RESP0013284-RESP0013288) as Exhibit 4 to the Supplemental Petition.  While the Exhibit itself 

was submitted “in camera,” Petitioner nonetheless quoted substantial portions of the type-written 

notes (Bates No. RESP0013285) in the publicly-filed body of the Supplemental Petition as 

constituting an alleged admission that Respondents breached their fiduciary duties.  See Supp. Pet. 

at 18:24-19:8.  In addition to failing to provide Respondents’ counsel with notice that Petitioner’s 

counsel was in possession of a potentially privileged document, Petitioner exacerbated the 

situation by (i) making affirmative use of the document to support his claims, and (ii) publicly 

                                                
17  The subject notes were not actually marked with Bates Stamps as they were inadvertently 
produced in native format to Petitioner’s counsel.  Nonetheless, the unofficial Bates Nos. can be 
derived from the gap in Bates Stamp numbering that exists in those documents properly produced 
as part of Respondents’ First Supplement.  
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quoting the document even though it was designated “Confidential” under the parties’ 

Confidentiality Agreement.  Notably, other portions of the same pages of the Supplemental 

Petition were redacted, thus negating the possibility of a potential oversight by Petitioner.  See 

Supp. Pet. at 18-19.  

 22. On June 5, 2018, Respondents counsel sent written notice to Petitioner’s counsel 

demanding that Petitioner return/destroy Lubbers’ notes and agree to redact all public references 

to the same in the Supplemental Petition.  See Mot., Ex. 4.  One week later, on June 12, Petitioner’s 

counsel responded, claimed that “these records are not ‘clearly’ privileged,” and refused to redact 

Petitioner’s public quotation of the notes notwithstanding their designation as “Confidential.”  See 

Mot., Ex. 5. 

 23. The same day, Respondents’ counsel again demanded return/destruction of the 

documents, explained the privileged nature of the notes, cited counsel’s failure to comply with the 

Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct and the terms of the parties’ ESI Protocol, and requested a 

meet and confer.  See Mot., Ex. 6.  Six days later, on June 18, Petitioner’s counsel responded, 

claimed that any protection that applied to the notes had been “waived” (on some unspecified 

basis), but ostensibly agreed to sequester the documents while the parties conducted a meet and 

confer in accordance with the provisions of the ESI Protocol.  See Mot., Ex. 7.  

 24. After an unsuccessful meet and confer on June 25, 2018, Petitioner filed the instant 

Motion for Determination of Privilege on July 13, 2018.  Rather than sequester the document as 

required by the parties’ ESI Protocol, Petitioner’s counsel again made affirmative use of the 

content of the notes to argue why they are not privileged or otherwise protected.  This is in direct 

violation of the express terms of the ESI Protocol, which states in relevant part: 

The Receiving Party hereby agrees to promptly return, sequester, or destroy any 
Privileged Information disclosed or produced by Disclosing or Producing Party 
upon request by Disclosing or Producing Party regardless of whether the 
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Receiving Party disputes the designation of Privileged Information. . . .  In the 
event that the parties do not resolve their dispute, the Objecting Party may bring a 
motion for determination of whether a privilege applies within ten (10) court days 
of the meet and confer session, but may only contest the asserted privileges on 
ground [sic] other than the inadvertent production of such document(s).  In making 
such a motion, the Objecting Party shall not disclose the content of the 
document(s) at issue, but may refer to the information contained on the privilege 
log. 
 

See Mot., Ex. 3 ¶ 21 (emphasis added).  Not only did Petitioner’s counsel argue the substance of 

the notes to contest any privilege or protection that applied thereto, they again quoted directly from 

Lubbers’ type-written notes in the publicly-filed Motion.  See Mot. at 7:1-9. 

 25. On August 1, 2018, Petitioner filed his Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Petitioner’s 

Supplemental Petition (on file).  For the third time, and despite Petitioner’s repeated demands to 

remove any public references to Lubbers’ protected notes—which, at a bare minimum, were 

designated “Confidential” under the parties’ Confidentiality Agreement—Petitioner again publicly 

quoted from the disputed notes in an effort to save his supplemental fraud and breach of fiduciary 

duty claims from dismissal.  See id. at 27:19-20. 

  (ii)  Lubbers’ December 2013 Notes (Bates Nos. RESP0078899-RESP0078900) 

 26. In marked contrast to the way they handled the set of Lubbers’ notes addressed 

above, Petitioner’s counsel notified Respondents’ counsel on or about June 14, 2018 that they were 

in possession of a set of different, potentially privileged/protected documents that may have been 

inadvertently produced by Respondents’ counsel (i.e., RESP0078884-RESP0078932).  See Mot., 

Ex. 8.  The parties thereafter exchanged a series of letters and conducted a series of meet and 

confers, which ultimately narrowed the parties’ dispute in this batch of documents to just two pages 

of notes prepared by Lubbers at a meeting with the parties, their respective counsel and Mr. 

Nicolatus on December 19, 2013 (i.e., Bates Nos. RESP078899-RESP078900).  See Mot., Ex. 2.  

That is how the ESI Protocol is supposed to operate. 
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III.  ARGUMENT 

A. Governing Principles. 

 1. Attorney-Client Privilege  

 The attorney-client privilege, embodied in NRS 49.095, protects communications between 

the client and the attorney.  See Wardleigh v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct., 111 Nev. 345, 352, 891 P.2d 

1180-1184-85 (1995).  Specifically, “a client has a privilege to refuse to disclose, and to prevent 

any other person from disclosing, confidential communications: (1) between the client or the 

client’s representative and the client’s lawyer or the representative of the client’s lawyer; (2)  

between the client’s lawyer and the lawyer’s representative; (3) made for the purpose of facilitating 

the rendition of professional legal services to the client, by the client or the client’s lawyer to a 

lawyer representing another in a matter of common interest.”  NRS 49.095.  The person asserting 

the privilege has the burden of establishing that it exists.  See Ralls v. United States, 52 F.3d 223, 

225 (9th Cir. 1995).    

 2. Attorney Work Product Protection 

 The Nevada Supreme Court recently explained that NRCP 26(b)(3), like its federal 

counterpart, “protects documents with ‘two characteristics: (1) they must be prepared in 

anticipation of litigation or for trial, and (2) they must be prepared by or for another party or by or 

for that other party’s representative.’” Wynn Resorts, Ltd. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 133 Nev. Adv. 

Op. 52, 399 P.3d 334, 347 (2017). “Under the ‘because of’ test,” adopted by the Nevada Supreme 

Court, “documents are prepared in anticipation of litigation when ‘in light of the nature of the 

document and the factual situation in the particular case, the document can fairly be said to have 

been prepared or obtained because of the prospect of litigation.’” Id. at 348.  While the rule protects 

any document prepared by or for a party “because of” litigation, it does not protect “records 

prepared in the normal course of business since those are not prepared because of the prospect of 
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litigation.” Id.  To determine whether the “because of” test is met, the Court is to consider “the 

totality of the circumstances.”  Id.  The person asserting work product protection has the burden 

of establishing its applicability.  See Diamond State Ins. Co. v. Rebel Oil Co., 157 F.R.D. 691, 699 

(D. Nev. 1994). 

B. Lubbers’ October 2013 Notes (Bates Nos. RESP0013284-RESP0013288) Are Clearly 
Protected by the Attorney-Client Privilege and the Work Product Doctrine. 

 
 There cannot be any genuine argument that the notes Lubbers prepared in October 2013 

shortly after the Initial Petition was filed, particularly the type-written notes found at Bates Nos. 

RESP0013285, reflect attorney-client privileged and work product protected material. 

 Starting with the attorney-client privilege, the type-written notes begin with three questions 

seeking legal advice regarding various aspects of responding to the Initial Petition.  See Mot., Ex. 

1.  The notes bear a hand-written date of October 14, 2013, which is the same date Lubbers 

participated in a half-hour telephone conference with attorneys Lee and Renwick at LHLGB 

wherein Lubbers’ response to the Initial Petition was discussed.  See Ex. 4 (LHLGB Billing 

Records).  Attorneys Lee and Renwick have likewise provided a general description of the subject 

matters discussed during the October 14, 2013 conference call that is entirely consistent with the 

topics set forth in Lubbers’ notes.  See Point II(B), supra.  These facts clearly fall within the 

statutory elements of the attorney-client privilege embodied in NRS 49.095 as they reflect 

confidential communications between a client and the client’s attorney for purposes of rendering 

legal services. 

 The work product doctrine also protects the notes from disclosure.  After the initial 

questions described above, the notes go on to reflect Lubbers “beliefs” regarding various subjects, 

including defense strategies, as well as Lubbers’ assessment of certain legal requirements.  The 

notes, stated differently, reflect Lubbers’ opinions and mental processes related to the Initial 
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Petition.  “At its core, the work product doctrine shelters the mental processes of the attorney, 

providing a privileged area within which he can analyze and prepare his client’s case.”  Wynn 

Resorts, 399 P.3d at 347 (quoting United States v. Nobles, 422 U.S. 225, 238 (1975)).  As one 

federal court has noted, “[t]he primary purpose of the rule is to prevent exploitation of another 

party’s efforts in preparing for the litigation.”  Diamond State, 157 F.R.D. at 699.18 

 By unilaterally attaching Lubbers’ October 2013 notes to his Supplemental Petition to 

provide substantive support for his (baseless) allegations of fraud and breach of fiduciary duty, 

Petitioner is engaging in the precise type of exploitation of another party’s efforts in preparing for 

litigation that the work product doctrine is designed to prevent.  Scott apparently believes he is 

free to engage in such exploitation because: (i) the notes purportedly contain “facts” that cannot 

be shielded by the attorney-client privilege; (ii) Lubbers waived any privilege or protection 

because the notes reflect that Larry and Bob Evans were present during Lubbers’ call with 

attorneys Lee and Renwick, and the notes were subsequently provided to the offices of AWG; 

(iii) Lubbers did not prepare his notes at the direction of an attorney; and (iv) Lubbers could not 

have reasonably anticipated litigation until December 2015 when he was presented with a draft of 

Scott’s Petition to Surcharge.  We address each of these baseless contentions in reverse order. 

1. The Initial Petition Was Adversarial Litigation that Respondents 
Reasonably Anticipated Months Prior to Its Filing. 

 
In an effort to remove Lubbers’ October 2013 notes and December 2013 notes from being 

work-product protected, Petitioner engages in pure fantasy when characterizing the Initial Petition 

                                                
18  It is Respondents’ position that Lubbers’ October 2013 notes produced as RESP0013284-
RESP0013288 are both attorney-client privileged (as they reflect communications between a client 
and his counsel) and work product protected (as they were created primarily because of the 
prospect of litigation).  Respondents contend that Lubbers’ December 2013 notes (Bates Nos. 
RESP0078899-RESP0078900) are only work product protected (as they were prepared primarily 
because of the prospect of litigation).     
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as a “neutral” pleading because there was purportedly “no actual dispute between the Parties” and 

“absolutely no allegations of wrongful conduct or claims were asserted against either Lubbers or 

the Canarellis.” See Mot. at 7:12-17; 17:15-18.  After erecting this false premise, Petitioner then 

argues that Lubbers could not have reasonably anticipated litigation when he prepared his notes 

in October and December 2013 because no claims were anticipated against Lubbers until late 2015 

when Petitioner provided Respondents’ counsel with a copy of his draft Petition to Surcharge.  Id. 

at 10:21-22.  Setting aside the salient question of how Scott is qualified to make the omniscient 

determination of when Respondents anticipated litigation, the plain language of the Initial Petition 

and the totality of the circumstances demonstrate that Lubbers unquestionably prepared his notes 

because of actual litigation. 

 A petition filed in Probate Court to initiate a trust proceeding is tantamount to a complaint 

filed in district court.  Compare NRS 132.270 and NRS 164.010 with NRCP 3; see also, A. Freer 

and J. Luszeck, Probate “Pro-Tip” Primer (Nev. Lawyer Jan. 2018) (“Instead of filing a 

complaint, an estate or trust proceeding is initiated by filing a petition.”).  Except as otherwise 

provided, the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure apply to trust proceedings, see NRS 155.180, 

including the right to conduct discovery.  See NRS 155.170(1) (interested person in trust 

proceeding “[m]ay obtain discovery, perpetuate testimony or conduct examinations in any 

manner authorized by law or the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure[.]”) (emphasis added); see 

also NRS 47.020 (Nevada Rules of Evidence embodied in NRS Title 4 “govern[] proceedings in 

courts of this State[.]”).    

 “Litigation,” for purposes of determining whether work product protection applies, 

“includes a proceeding in a court or administrative tribunal in which the parties have the right to 

cross-examine witnesses or to subject an opposing party’s presentation of proof to equivalent 

disputation.” Fru-Con Const. Corp. v. Sacramento Mun. Util. Dist., 2006 WL 2050999, at *4 (E.D. 
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Cal. July 20, 2006) (quoting U.S. v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 86 F.R.D. 603, 627 (D.D.C. 1979)). 

“The determining factor in the analysis is whether the parties have a right to cross-examine 

witnesses and therefore introduce evidence. If so, the proceedings are adversarial in nature.” Id.  

Respondents, as “interested persons” in this trust proceeding since the time Scott filed his Initial 

Petition, have had the right to cross-examine witnesses under the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 

and the Nevada Rules of Evidence.  The Initial Petition, thus, certainly qualifies as litigation that 

Respondents reasonably anticipated for work product purposes. 

 Even if the test for determining whether a proceeding is “adversarial” for work product 

purposes turns on whether “claims” have been asserted (and Petitioner has cited no authority for 

this proposition) there can be no legitimate debate that the Initial Petition asserted allegations of 

wrongful conduct against both Lubbers and the Canarellis.  The Initial Petition alleges, for 

example, that the Canarellis wrongfully stopped making distributions from the SCIT because they 

were “hostile” to Scott, that Respondents had failed to comply with their disclosure obligations to 

Scott during the lifetime of the SCIT and, thus, violated their fiduciary duties, that Larry had a 

conflict of interest in connection with the Purchase Agreement, and that the Purchase Agreement 

may have been entered to “punish” Scott and harm his financial interests.  See Point II(A), supra.   

 The Initial Petition, moreover, came after a letter from Petitioner’s counsel claiming that 

Respondents were acting in “bad faith” and threatening to file a petition against them.  See Ex. 2.  

The threatened lawsuit was significant enough in the eyes of Respondents to be placed on their 

weekly agenda for discussion in November 2012.  See Ex. 4.   After filing the Initial Petition, Scott 

likewise made clear through counsel that he was reserving his right to “unwind the sale” and seek 

redress for Respondents’ conduct in connection therewith.  See Exs. 6-7.  Scott’s counsel also 

threatened back in 2014 that the parties’ ongoing dispute over the accountings may result in 
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“further litigation.”  See Ex. 8 (emphasis added).19  It is axiomatic that there can only be “further” 

litigation if litigation is already underway, which was precisely the situation as a result of Scott 

filing his Initial Petition.       

 In short, the totality of the circumstances plainly establishes that Lubbers prepared his notes 

because of the Initial Petition.  This litigation was not merely anticipated, but had already been 

commenced two weeks prior to Lubbers’ creation of his notes dated October 14, 2013 and two 

and a half months prior to the creation of his December 2013 notes.  The notes would not—indeed, 

could not have—have been prepared in substantially similar form absent the threshold filing of 

the Initial Petition as they expressly address issues raised by the Initial Petition itself or matters 

that were subsequently ordered as a result of the Initial Petition being filed.  Lubbers, moreover, 

promptly retained litigation counsel to represent him in responding to the Initial Petition at or 

about the same time he created his October 2013 notes.   

2. Notes Made by a Party “Because of” Ongoing Litigation Constitute 
Work Product Even if They Were Not Made at the Direction of an 
Attorney. 

 
 Petitioner twice cites Ballard v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 106 Nev. 83, 85, 787 P.2d 406, 407 

(1990) to support the proposition that Lubbers’ notes are not protected work product because “they 

                                                
19  The “because of” test “contains both an objective and subjective component, requiring the party 
seeking to avoid disclosure to 1) establish a subjective belief that litigation was a real possibility 
and 2) demonstrate that such belief was objectively reasonable.” South Fifth Towers, LLC v. Aspen 
Ins. UK, Ltd., 2016 WL 6594082, at *4-5 (W.D. Ky. Nov. 4, 2016).  Courts routinely find letters 
like those sent by Petitioner’s counsel are sufficient to trigger a party’s a reasonable anticipation 
of litigation.  See, e.g., id. (letter warning that opposing party would be in breach of its insurance 
policy was sufficient to create a reasonable anticipation of litigation); Greater Birmingham 
Ministries v. Merrill, 2017 WL 2903197, at *5-6 (N.D. Ala. July 7, 2017) (letter threatening 
Governor with “immediate legal action” and public cries that budget cuts be “fought in court” 
created reasonable anticipation of litigation); Handsome, Inc. v. Town of Monroe, 2014 WL 
348196, at *4 (D. Conn. Jan. 31, 2014) (parties’ history of litigation, letter to zoning commission 
from plaintiff’s counsel stating it could not impose any new conditions on permit, and  
commission’s subsequent retention of counsel all demonstrated that subsequently prepared notes 
were prepared in anticipation of litigation).   
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were not created at the request of an attorney.”  See Mot. at 17:8-9 and n.33; 20:21-21:2 and n.39.  

With due respect to Ballard, this nearly 30-year old, 2-page opinion is limited to the factual setting 

of an insurance company investigation.  The Nevada Supreme Court has recognized as much.  See 

Mega Mfg., Inc. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 2014 WL 2527226, at *2 (Nev. May 30, 2014) 

(unpublished) (“This holding, however, is constrained to the specific facts of Ballard.”).  The 

Mega Mfg. court correctly observed that “NRCP 26(b)(3) also protects materials not created at 

the request of attorneys.”  Id. (emphasis added).  Though Mega Mfg. is an unpublished opinion, 

the principles it endorses are well recognized by abundant other authorities.   

 To begin, the plain language of Rule 26(b)(3) provides for work product protection for 

materials created “by . . . another party.”  The advisory committee notes to the amendment 

adopting this language explain that the rule applies “not merely as to materials prepared by an 

attorney, but also as to materials prepared in anticipation of litigation or preparation for trial by or 

for a party or any representative acting on his behalf.”  FRCP 26 advisory committee notes to 

1970 amendment (emphasis added); see also NRCP 26 comments (noting that the Nevada rule 

was “[r]evised in 1971 in accordance with the federal amendments, effective July 1, 1970”).  

 The legal authorities interpreting Rule 26 are in accord.  “Materials produced by or for a 

party in anticipation of litigation may constitute work product despite the fact that the materials 

were not created at the direction of an attorney.”  Moore v. Plains All Am. GP, LLC, 2015 WL 

5545306, at *4-5 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 18, 2015); id. (“[T]he plain language of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure anticipate that materials created ‘by or for another party or its representative’ may be 

protected by the work product doctrine, so long as they were created in anticipation of litigation.”); 

see also Wultz v. Bank of China Ltd., 304 F.R.D. 384, 393-94 (S.D.N.Y. 2015) (“Finally, all cases 

of which the Court is aware that have specifically addressed this question afford protection to 

materials gathered by non-attorneys even where there was no involvement by an attorney.”).  A 
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requirement that “the document for which protection is sought must be either made or required by 

an attorney to be protected . . . would be contrary to the text of Rule 26(b)(3) and the stated intent 

of its drafters.” Goff v. Harrah's Operating Co., 240 F.R.D. 659, 661 (D. Nev. 2007).20  

 In Wultz v. Bank of China, Ltd., the New York federal district court discussed the “because 

of” test adopted in Wynn Resorts, supra, and cited United States v. Adlman, 134 F.3d 1194, 1202 

(2d Cir. 1998), on which the Nevada Supreme Court also relied.  The district court explained that 

“[n]otwithstanding the common description of the doctrine as the ‘attorney’ work product doctrine, 

as a doctrine ‘intended to preserve a zone of privacy in which a lawyer can prepare and develop 

legal theories and strategy,’ . . . and as applying to ‘materials prepared by or at the behest of 

counsel,’ . . . it is not in fact necessary that the material be prepared by or at the direction of an 

attorney.”  304 F.R.D. at 393-94.  Indeed, “it is well-established that the [work product] doctrine 

protects writings made by a party even without any involvement by counsel.”  Szulik v. State St. 

Bank & Tr. Co., 2014 WL 3942934, at *3 (D. Mass. Aug. 11, 2014).  Lubbers’ notes fall squarely 

within the principles enunciated above.  

3. Respondents Did Not Waive any Privilege/Protection that Applies to 
Lubbers’ Notes. 

 
Petitioner next claims that any privilege or protection that attached to the Lubbers notes 

was waived because Lubbers’ handwritten notes dated October 14, 2013 (RESP0013284) reflect 

that his meeting with counsel occurred in the presence of Larry and Bob Evans who are purported 

third parties that destroy the privilege.  See Mot. at 14:17-15:15.  Petitioner also contends that any 

                                                
20  Petitioner’s citation to Goff is puzzling given that it unequivocally refutes the very proposition 
Petitioner asks this Court to adopt—i.e., that a document, “by definition,” cannot be work product 
protected unless it was “prepared at the request of an attorney.”  See Mot. at 20:21-21:27-28 and 
n.39.  Of course, just the opposite is true.  As Judge Reed aptly observed at the beginning of his 
analysis: “It may be surprising to long-time practitioners that ‘a lawyer need not be involved at all 
for the work product protection to take effect.’”  Goff, 240 F.R.D. at 660 (quotation omitted).  
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privilege or protection was waived on the additional ground that the notes were subsequently 

provided to AWG, a non-party not “encompassed in the Lubbers-Renwick attorney-client 

relationship.”  Id. at 15:17-16:14.  Neither contention is persuasive.    

As a threshold matter, the Lubbers notes do not state that Larry and Bob Evans were present 

on the phone call with attorneys Lee and Renwick.  The isolated references to “Larry” and “Bob” 

are corroborative of nothing.  Notably, the billing records of Mr. Lee and Ms. Renwick contain 

no reference to Larry or Bob being present during the October 14, 2013 phone call.  Even if these 

individuals were present during the call, the information reflected in Lubbers’ notes is still 

privileged and/or protected because Lubbers and Larry undisputedly share a common interest in 

defending against the allegations contained in Scott’s various petitions.  And Bob Evans has 

undisputedly been an agent of the former Family Trustees of the SCIT (i.e., Lubbers and Larry) 

when it comes to accounting matters. 

 Nevada’s attorney-client privilege statute codifies the common interest rule.  See NRS 

49.095(3) (protecting confidential communications “[m]ade for the purpose of facilitating the 

rendition of professional legal services to the client, by him or his lawyer to a lawyer representing 

another in a matter of common interest.”); cf. Collins v. State, 113 Nev. 1177, 1183–84, 946 P.2d 

1055, 1060 (1997) (NRS 49.095 protects “communications made in the course of an on-going and 

joint effort to set up a common defense strategy.”) (citation omitted).21  The Nevada Supreme 

                                                
21  As explained further, “[p]articipants in a joint or common defense or individuals with a 
community of interest may communicate among themselves and with the separate attorneys on 
matters of common legal interest, for the purpose of preparing a joint strategy, and the attorney-
client privilege will protect those communications to the same extent as it would communications 
between each client and his own attorney.”  Nidec Corp. v. Victor Co. of Japan, 249 F.R.D. 575, 
578 (N.D. Cal. 2007).  The common interest theory applies even if the parties have “some adverse 
interests.”  See Eisenberg v. Gagnon, 766 F.2d 770, 787-88 (3d Cir. 1985).  Moreover, “[i]n order 
for the joint defense theory to apply, there need not be actual litigation.”  Nidec, 249 F.R.D. at 578. 
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Court has additionally recognized the applicability of the common interest rule in the context of 

claims for work product protection.  See Cotter v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 32, 

416 P.3d 228, 230 (2018) (adopting “the common interest rule that allows attorneys to share work 

product with third parties that have common interest in litigation without waiving the work product 

privilege.”).  “The rule is not narrowly limited to co-parties,” and “a written agreement is not 

required.”  Id. (emphasis added). 

 Here, Scott’s Initial Petition leveled allegations of wrongdoing against all of the 

Respondents in this action—Larry and Heidi, who were former Family Trustees of the SCIT, and 

Lubbers who was the current Family Trustee at the time.  See Point II(A), supra.  Defending 

charges asserted by a common party in litigation is the classic example of a common legal interest.  

See FSP Stallion 1, LLC v. Luce, 2010 WL 3895914, at *16 (D. Nev. 2010) (“The joint defense 

privilege has been extended to civil co-defendants because ‘[t]he need to protect the free flow of 

information to attorney logically exists whenever multiple clients share a common interest about 

a legal matter.’”).  Indeed, the clarified stipulation and order that emanated out of the hearings 

triggered by the Initial Petition required Lubbers to work with Larry and Heidi to provide the 

Court-ordered information to Scott and his counsel.  See Ex. 6.  

 Nor did Bob Evans’ alleged participation in the conference call with Lubbers and his 

attorneys destroy any privileged communications.  It is undisputed that Mr. Evans acted as an 

agent for Larry and Lubbers in their capacities as Family Trustees related to accounting matters 

for the SCIT, and personally assisted in production of the documents to Scott ordered by the Court 

in response to the Initial Petition.22  Indeed, Petitioner has claimed that Respondents were obligated 

to search and produce responsive ESI from Evans’ own files even though he is not a party in this 

                                                
22  See Objection to Pet. to Surcharge Trustee and for Additional Relief dated 8/9/17 (on file) at 
Ex. A (Declaration of Robert Evans). 
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action given his role as an agent for the Trustees—and Respondents agreed to do so.  See Ex. 3 

(“we will search Bob Evans’ and Teresa O’Malley’s ESI on the theory that they acted as agents of 

the former trustees in connection with the SCIT.”).   

Assuming arguendo that Mr. Evans participated on the phone call with Lubbers and 

attorneys Lee and Renwick, it would have been perfectly appropriate for him to do so an agent of 

the now former Trustees given that one of the central issues raised in the Initial Petition was the 

Trustees’ alleged failure to provide Scott with accountings.  See NRS 49.095 (protecting 

confidential communications between a “client’s representative” and the client’s lawyer to 

facilitate the rendition of legal services); NRS 49.075 (client’s representative is one “having 

authority to obtain professional legal services, or to act on advice rendered pursuant thereto, on 

behalf of the client”).  Evans similarly had a common legal interest with Lubbers in defending the 

Trustees’ actions related to the SCIT.  See RKF Holdings, LLC v. Tropicana Las Vegas, Inc., 2017 

WL 2292818, at *3 (D. Nev. May 5, 2017) (“common interest doctrine is not limited to joint 

litigation efforts[,] [i]t is applicable whenever parties with common interests join forces for the 

purpose of obtaining more effective legal assistance.”). 

 The same reasoning applies regarding the subsequent production of certain Lubbers’ files 

to AWG for safekeeping after Lubbers’ death.  Again, Petitioner has cited no evidence that 

Lubbers’ privileged and work-product protected notes were actually provided to AWG.  He instead 

cites an e-mail referencing an entirely different, non-privileged directive from Lubbers addressing 

the deferral of principal payments under the Purchase Agreement.  See Mot. at 15:16-16:14.  

Regardless, Larry and Mr. Evans are AWG executives, the Purchased Entities formerly owned by 

the SCIT comprised part of AWG’s homebuilding operations, and Petitioner has subpoenaed 

several entities within the AWG for records and is presently pursuing a motion to compel 

documents from one of those entities, American West Development, Inc., regarding its finances 
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just as he has filed similar motions to compel against all of the Respondents herein.  AWG, hence, 

shares a common legal interest with Respondents such that the alleged disclosure of privileged 

documents to the corporation would not waive the privilege.  See Wynn Resorts, 399 P.3d at 341 

(“communications may be disclosed to other persons within a corporation or legal team in order 

to facilitate the rendition of legal advice without losing confidentiality.”).  Nor would such 

disclosure waive any work product protection as it is well settled that the disclosure of work 

product to some, but not others is permitted, see Cotter, 416 P.3d at 232, so long as the material is 

not purposefully disclosed to an adversary.  See id. (quoting Wynn Resorts, 399 P.3d at 349).  There 

has been no waiver here.    

4. Facts Contained Within a Privileged Communication Are Not Subject 
to Production. 

 
  (i) Lubbers’ notes reflect mental impressions, not “facts” 

Petitioner contends that the attorney-client privilege does not apply to Lubbers’ type-written 

notes (RESP0013285) because they contain “facts,” and there is no evidence that Lubbers provided 

the notes to his attorney or shared the contents of the notes with his counsel.  See Mot. 13:3-14:16.  

While Petitioner correctly recognizes that “[m]ere facts are not privileged, but communications 

about facts in order to obtain legal advice are,” id. at 13:6-7 (citing Wynn Resorts, 399 P.3d at 

341), his application of this principle quickly goes awry.    

Again, it is improper for Petitioner to be arguing the actual content of the notes themselves 

to try and defeat the privilege.  See Mot., Ex. 3 (ESI protocol) § 21.  Nevertheless, even Petitioner 

recognizes that “Lubbers articulated certain questions and provided responses based upon his 

beliefs.”  See Mot at 14:3-5 (emphasis added).  Beliefs are not facts.  They are instead synonymous 

with “opinions.”  See www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/belief.  But even if a portion of the 

notes are deemed to contain “facts,” which is not the case, they are still contained in a 
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communication with counsel that should remain privileged.  See Wardleigh, 111 Nev. at 352, 891 

P.2d at 1184 (“relevant facts known by a corporate employee of any status in the corporation would 

be discoverable even if such facts were relayed to the corporate attorney as part of the employee’s 

communication with counsel.  The communication itself, however, would remain privileged.”) 

(emphasis added); Upjohn Co. v. United States, 449 U.S. 383, 396, 101 S. Ct. 677, 685–86 (1981) 

(“While it would probably be more convenient for the Government to secure the results of 

petitioner’s internal investigation by simply subpoenaing the questionnaires and notes taken by 

petitioner’s attorneys, such considerations of convenience do not overcome the policies served by 

the attorney–client privilege.”). 

Lubbers’ attorneys have confirmed that they conducted a lengthy telephone conference with 

Lubbers on October 14, 2013 regarding his response to the petitions filed by Scott just two weeks 

earlier.  The attorneys’ recollection of the general subject matter discussed during the telephone 

conference is wholly consistent with the contents of Lubbers’ type-written notes.  Given that the 

subject communications with counsel took place by phone, it is entirely logical that Lubbers would 

have used the type-written notes as an aid to guide the topics he wished to discuss with counsel 

whereas the handwritten notes from the same date (RESP0013284) reflect additional information 

Lubbers recorded during the call. 

 (ii) “Substantial need” is insufficient to obtain “opinion” work product 

Finally, Petitioner contends that even if Lubbers’ notes are work product protected, he has 

demonstrated a “substantial need” for them in light of Lubbers’ death.  See Mot. 18:11-21:10.  

Petitioner’s analysis, however, fails to address the distinction between “ordinary” work product 

and “opinion” work product, each of which is subject to different standards for discovery: 

‘Ordinary’ work product includes raw factual information while ‘opinion’ work 
product includes mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of a 
party’s attorney or other representatives concerning the litigation.  Ordinary work 
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product may be discovered if the party seeking the discovery demonstrates a 
substantial need for the materials and there is no other means for obtaining that 
information without undue hardship.  In contrast, opinion work product enjoys 
stronger protection, and it may be discovered only when mental impressions are 
at issue in a case and the need for the material is compelling.  A party seeking 
opinion work product must make a showing beyond the substantial need/undue 
hardship test required under Rule 26(b)(3) for non-opinion work product. 
 

Hooke v. Foss Maritime Co., 2014 WL 1457582, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 10, 2014) (emphasis added) 

(citations and quotations omitted); accord NRCP 26(b)(3); Upjohn Co., 449 U.S. at 402, 101 S. 

Ct. at 688 (attorney’s mental processes “cannot be disclosed simply on a showing of substantial 

need and an inability to obtain the equivalent without undue hardship.”).     

 “Opinion work product enjoys an almost absolute immunity from discovery,” Laxalt v. 

McClatchy, 116 F.R.D. 438, 441 (D. Nev. 1987), and “is only discoverable when counsel's mental 

impressions are at issue and there is a compelling need for disclosure.”  Phillips v. C.R. Bard, Inc., 

290 F.R.D. 615, 634 (D. Nev. 2013).  The limited exceptions to non-disclosure where an attorney’s 

mental impressions are “at issue” include situations where the attorney has been designated as an 

expert witness or where “advice of counsel” has been raised as a defense.  See, e.g., Vaughn 

Furniture Co., Inc. v. Featureline Mfg., Inc., 156 F.R.D. 123 (M.D.N.C. 1994) (attorney’s mental 

impressions become discoverable when named as an expert witness); Coleco Indus., Inc. v. 

Universal City Studios, 110 F.R.D. 688, 690 (S.D.N.Y. 1986) (when the defendant raised an 

“advice of counsel” defense, opinion work product became discoverable).  Neither situation 

applies here.   

   Scott has acknowledged that Lubbers’ type-written notes reflect his “beliefs,” which are 

not facts.  Indeed, a cursory reading of the notes makes plain they contain Lubbers’ mental 

impressions about case strategy and the strengths and weaknesses of the instant litigation.  This is 

the epitome of “opinion” work product.  Even if the notes can be said to contain some “facts,” 

which Respondents dispute, they are inextricably intertwined with Lubbers’ opinions and mental 
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processes such that they should not be subject to production on even a limited basis.  See, e.g., 

SEC v. Roberts, 254 F.R.D. 371, 382-82 (N.D. Cal. 2008) (refusing production of attorney’s notes 

where “the facts contained within the notes are likely inextricably tied with the attorney’s mental 

thoughts and impressions.”).  Petitioner has failed to overcome the near absolute immunity 

applicable to “opinion” work product.23 

COUNTERMOTION FOR REMEDIATION OF IMPROPERLY DISCLOSED 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND WORK  

PRODUCT PROTECTED MATERIALS 
 

I.  INTRODUCTION 
 

 This Court has the inherent authority to regulate the conduct of attorneys acting before it.  

Here, Petitioner’s counsel (i) failed to comply with the requirements of NRPC 4.4(b) after 

discovering they may be in possession of Respondents’ inadvertently produced attorney-client 

privileged and/or work product protected material, (ii) violated the parties’ ESI Protocol when 

seeking to challenge Respondents’ assertions of privilege/protection, and (iii) violated  the parties’ 

Confidentiality Agreement by quoting portions of the subject documents in three different public 

filings despite the documents’ designation as “Confidential” and Respondents’ repeated demands 

to remove the content of the documents from the public record. 

 Her Honor has a duty to protect against unauthorized disclosures of attorney-client 

communications in the context of motion practice.  Failure to do so threatens the public’s 

confidence in the legal system and the integrity of the judicial process.  This is true even if the 

disclosure was inadvertent, let alone purposeful as is the case here.  The Court should remedy these 

                                                
23  Nor can Petitioner satisfy the “substantial need” standard required to obtain any facts contained 
in Lubbers’ December 2013 notes (RESP0078899-RESP0078900).  That is because Petitioner has 
other ways to obtain evidence of what occurred at the December 19, 2013 meeting.  After all, 
Petitioner and his counsel were in attendance.  See In re Western States Wholesale Natural Gas 
Antitrust Litig., 2016 WL 2593916, at *8 (D. Nev. May 5, 2016) (denying access to work product 
materials where party could obtain the substantial equivalent without undue hardship). 
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violations by ordering counsel to destroy the notes at issue herein, certify that they have done so, 

and notify any other person that may have received them to do the same.  The Court should 

additionally strike and order removed from the public record all references to the subject notes 

found at 18:24-19:8 of the Supplemental Petition, 7:4-9 of the Motion for Determination of 

Privilege, and 27:19-20 of the Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Petitioner’s Supplemental Petition.  

Finally, the Court should order that Exhibit 4 to the Supplemental Petition be removed from that 

filing altogether so that Lubbers’ attorney-client privileged and work product protected notes do 

not taint the District Court Judge’s consideration of the Supplemental Petition, the pending Motion 

to Dismiss that pleading, or any other aspect of this case.   

II.  ARGUMENT24 
 
A. Petitioner’s Counsel Failed to Comply with NRPC 4.4(b). 

 Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct 4.4(b) provides that “[a] lawyer who receives a 

document or electronically stored information relating to the representation of the lawyer’s client 

and knows or reasonably should know that the document or electronically stored information was 

inadvertently sent shall promptly notify the sender.”  See also, Merits Incentives, LLC v. Eighth 

Jud. Dist. Ct., 127 Nev. 689, 697 262 P.3d 720, 725 (2011) (extending prompt notification 

requirement where attorney receives potentially privileged or protected documents from an 

anonymous source or a third party unrelated to the litigation).  

 Upon receipt of Lubbers’ notes Bates Stamped RESP0013284-RESP013288, Petitioner’s 

counsel did not notify Respondents’ counsel about the potential inadvertent production.  

Petitioner’s counsel instead decided, unilaterally, to make affirmative use of the documents by 

attaching them as an exhibit to Petitioner’s Supplemental Petition alleging new (or expanded) 

                                                
24  Respondents incorporate the factual background set forth above. 
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claims for fraud and breach of fiduciary.  See Point II(C), supra.  Petitioner’s counsel also quoted 

from the notes in the body of the publicly-filed Supplemental Petition despite the fact that they 

were, at a minimum, designated “Confidential.”  See id.  

 It was not for Petitioner’s attorneys to arrogate to themselves the decision as to whether the 

Lubbers notes were protected by the attorney-client privilege and/or work product doctrine.  That 

is the province of the Court.  The parties agreed to a protocol for presenting such matters to the 

Court, which Petitioner likewise violated.  We address that issue next.25   

B. Petitioner’s Counsel Violated the Parties’ ESI Protocol.  

 The parties entered an ESI Protocol agreement to govern the very issue presently before the 

Court, i.e., one party inadvertently produces an asserted attorney-client privileged and/or work 

product protected document, and the opposing party wishes to contest the assertion of 

privilege/protection.  Such protocols are both routine and necessary in today’s age of electronic 

discovery where inadvertent productions of protected documents are inevitable.26   

 The ESI Protocol in this case states in relevant part as follows: 

 

                                                
25  As set forth above, see Point II(C)(ii), supra, Petitioner’s counsel did comply with NRPC 4.4(b) 
and the parties’ ESI Protocol when it came to the second set of disputed Lubbers’ notes (i.e., 
RESP0078884-RESP078932).  Through a series of letters and meet and confers, the parties were 
able to narrow their dispute to two documents, see id., which is an example of how the process is 
supposed to work. 
 
26  See, e.g., Ardon v. City of Los Angeles, 366 P.3d 996, 1003 (Cal. 2016) (recognizing “[e]ven 
apart from the inadvertent disclosure problem, the party responding to a request for mass 
production must engage in a laborious, time consuming process. If the document producer is 
confronted with the additional prospect that any privileged documents inadvertently produced will 
become fair game for the opposition, the minute screening and re-screening that inevitably would 
follow not only would add enormously to that burden but would slow the pace of discovery to a 
degree sharply at odds with the general goal of expediting litigation.”); BNP Paribas Mort. Corp. 
v. Bank of America, N.A., 2013 WL 2322678, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. May 21, 2013) (same). 
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 21.  Effect of Disclosure of Privileged Information.  The Receiving Party 
hereby agrees to promptly return, sequester, or destroy any Privileged Information 
disclosed or produced by Disclosing or Producing Party upon request by Disclosing 
or Producing Party regardless of whether the Receiving Party disputes the 
designation of Privileged Information.  The Receiving Party may sequester (rather 
than return or destroy) such Privileged Information only if it contends that the 
information itself is not privileged or otherwise protected, and it challenges the 
privilege designation, in which case it may only sequester the information until the 
claim of privilege or other protection is resolved. . . . In the event that the parties 
do not resolve their dispute, the Objecting Party may bring a motion for 
determination of whether a privilege applies within ten (10) court days of the meet 
and confer session, but may only contest the asserted privileges on ground [sic] 
other than the inadvertent production of such document(s).  In making such a 
motion, the Objecting Party shall not disclose the content of the document(s) at 
issue, but may refer to the information contained on the privilege log.  Nothing 
herein shall relieve counsel from abiding by applicable ethical rules regarding 
inadvertent disclosure and discovery of inadvertently disclosed privileged or 
otherwise protected information. 
 

See Mot., Ex. 3 ¶ 21 (emphasis added).   

 Petitioner’s counsel violated the ESI Protocol in at least three ways.  First, a Receiving Party 

(here, Petitioner) is required to promptly return, sequester or destroy asserted privileged or 

protected information when requested to do so by a Disclosing Party (here, Respondents).  The 

Receiving Party is obligated to do so even if it disagrees with the assertion of privilege/protection.  

Yet, when Respondents sent written notice clawing back Lubbers’ notes attached to the 

Supplemental Petition and demanding that the public references to the notes be redacted, 

Petitioner’s counsel instead argued that the notes were not privileged and refused to redact their 

public filings.  See Point II(C)(ii), supra.  It was only after the exchange of further letters and the 

passage of another week that Petitioner’s counsel ostensibly agreed to sequester the notes pending 

the meet and confer process.  Id. 

 The second violation occurred when Petitioner filed the instant Motion.  Notwithstanding 

the express terms of the ESI Protocol stating that the “Objecting Party shall not disclose the content 

of the documents(s) at issue,” Petitioner’s counsel did exactly that by—again—publicly quoting 
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portions of the notes in the body of the Motion.  Additionally, rather than “sequester” the notes, 

Petitioner’s counsel again made affirmative use of their substance, this time to argue why they are 

not privileged or protected in the first instance.27  The ESI Protocol makes clear that a party should 

not have to debate publicly the content of privileged or protected communications in order to 

defend its claim of privilege or protection.  The Nevada Supreme Court has recognized the same 

principle in a different context.  See Robbins v. Gillock, 109 Nev. 1015, 1018, 862 P.2d 1195, 1197 

(1993) (“the moving party is not required to divulge the confidences actually communicated, nor 

should a court inquire into whether an attorney actually acquired confidential information in the 

prior representation.”); Brown v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 116 Nev. 1200, 1205, 14 P.3d 1266, 1270 

(2000) (party has a “right to be free from the risk of even inadvertent disclosure of confidential 

information” on a motion to disqualify).   

 Third, the ESI Protocol provides that the parties’ entry into this agreement does not dispense 

with their obligations to comply with the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct.  One of those 

rules, of course, is NRPC 4.4(b) requiring prompt notification when an attorney knows or should 

know he or she is in possession of inadvertently produced information.  It is undisputed that 

Petitioner’s counsel failed to provide such notice, and instead opted to make affirmative use of 

Lubbers’ notes to support Petitioner’s substantive claims in this action without awaiting a ruling 

from the Court.   

C. Petitioner’s Counsel Violated the Parties’ Confidentiality Agreement.        

 Setting aside the parties’ debate over the privileged/protected nature of Lubbers’ notes, there 

can be no debate that the parties entered into a Confidentiality Agreement to govern the production 

                                                
27  “Sequester” means “[t]o separate or isolate from other people or things; to remove or seclude.”  
Black’s Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).  It’s hard to imagine conduct more inconsistent with this 
definition than publicly quoting a “sequestered” document and then publicly arguing why it’s not 
privileged or protected. 
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of sensitive documents during discovery.28  The Lubbers notes produced as RESP0013284-

RESP0013288 were all designated “Confidential” pursuant to the terms of the Confidentiality 

Agreement.  See Mot, Ex. 1.  Notwithstanding this fact, Petitioner’s counsel has quoted from 

RESP0013285 in three different public filings.  See Point II(C)(i), supra.  Two of those documents 

were filed after Respondents’ notified Petitioner of this issue and demanded that all public 

references to the notes be removed.  Petitioner has flatly refused to comply with the terms of the 

parties’ agreements, thereby necessitating judicial intervention.     

CONCLUSION 

 Based on the foregoing, Respondents respectfully request that: 

 (1)  Petitioner’s Motion for Determination be denied based on a finding that Lubbers’ 

notes are attorney-client privileged and/or work product protected; 

 (2) Respondents’ Countermotion for Remediation be granted, and the Court (i) order 

Petitioner’s counsel to destroy the notes at issue herein, certify that they have done so, and notify 

any other person that may have received them to do the same; (ii) strike and order removed from 

the public record all references to the subject notes found at 18:24-19:8 of the Supplemental 

Petition, 7:4-9 of the Motion for Determination of Privilege, and 27:19-20 of the Opposition to 

Motion to Dismiss Petitioner’s Supplemental Petition; and (iii) order Exhibit 4 to the Supplemental 

Petition be removed from that filing altogether so that Lubbers’ attorney-client privileged and work 

product protected notes do not taint the District Court Judge’s consideration of the Supplemental 

Petition, the pending Motion to Dismiss that pleading, or any other aspect of this case; and 

 

 

                                                
28  A true and correct copy of the parties’ Confidentiality Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 
11. 
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 (3) For such other and further relief the Court deems just and appropriate. 

 DATED this 10th day of August, 2018.      

     CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS 
 
     By:____/s/ J. Colby Williams________________ 
               DONALD J. CAMPBELL, ESQ. (1216)  
               J. COLBY WILLIAMS, ESQ. (5549) 
          PHILIP R. ERWIN, ESQ. (11563) 
               700 South Seventh Street 
               Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
 
     DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC 
     Elizabeth Brickfield, Esq. (6236) 
     Joel Z. Schwarz, Esq. (9181) 
     8363 West Sunset Road, Suite 200 
     Las Vegas, Nevada 89113  
 
     Attorneys for Lawrence and  
     Heidi Canarelli, and Frank Martin,  
     Special Administrator of the Estate of  
     Edward C. Lubbers, Former Trustees 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on the 10th day of August, 2018, I caused a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing Opposition to Petitioner Scott Canarelli’s Motion for Determination of Privilege 

Designation of RESP013284-013288 and RESP078899-078900 and Countermotion for 

Remediation of Improperly Disclosed Attorney-Client Privileged and Work Product 

Protected Materials to be served through the Eighth Judicial District Court’s electronic filing 

system, to the following parties: 

 Dana Dwiggins, Esq. 
 Alexander LeVeque, Esq. 
 Tess Johnson, Esq. 
 SOLOMON DWIGGINS & FREER, LTD  
 9060 West Cheyenne Avenue 
 Las Vegas, Nevada  89129 
 
 Counsel for Scott Canarelli 

 
 
      _____/s/ John Y. Chong_______________ 
      An Employee of Campbell & Williams 
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